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BANKING THAT’S GOOD. FOR YOU.



Quorum is banking that’s focused on you, and how our products and services 

can help you live life as you choose. We’re a credit union, which means that we 

serve you, our members (not stockholders). 

Our mission is to do good by you and for you, by returning profits in the form of 

our competitive rates, low fees, simple rules, clear communication, frictionless 

delivery, and unbiased advice. We call it “Banking that’s good. For you.”
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NOT PICTURED: 

MICHAEL L. PENNCAVAGE — Associate Director | Party City | Board Member since 2019, KEVIN HOLLY — Former Chairman | Retired, Altria Group, Inc. | Board Member since 1989 

DAN DeSIO — Former Treasurer | Newmedical Technology, Inc. | Board Member since 2014, JONATHAN PARKER — Former Director | APR Consulting | Board Member 2013  

JOSEPH P. VALLARO — Former Associate Director | Retired, Kraft Foods Inc. | Board Member since 2011

JAN 
PRICE

Treasurer
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Kraft Foods Inc.  

Board Member 

since 1994

BRUCE L. 
FISHSTEIN

Director
 Hudson Group 

Board member 

since 2016

JAMES F. 
INGOLD 
Director

Gas Technology  

Institute

Board member 

since 2018

VALAREE 
BROWN  
Director

Retired, Filtran LLC

Board member 

since 2019

MARK 
WERNER
Chairperson

Retired, 

Altria Group, Inc.  

Board Member 

since 1998

STEVEN 
KLEPFER

Vice Chairperson
Retired, 

Philips Electronics  

Board Member

since 1997

SANDRA 
SCHIRMANG

Secretary
Retired, 

Kraft Foods Inc.  

Board Member 

since 2009

JEFF 
FEUERSTEIN

Director
Mastercard   

Board Member 

since 2017

BOARD 
OF 

DIRECTORS

TAVIS  
BRIECHLE  

Vice President 

of Finance 

DIANE  
SLIFSTEIN  

Vice President 

of Operations  

& Member  

Services 

JEFFREY  
PACHTER  
COO/CFO 

 

CARLENE 
ARMETTA  

Vice President 

of Marketing 

BRUNO  
SEMENTILLI  

President  

& CEO 

  

GEORGE 
CACCHIANI  

Vice President 

of Information 

Technology

TYSON  
BLACKBURN  
Vice President 

of Lending

ALAN 
GAYNOR 

Vice President 

of Human  

Resources 



SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

(Date of Supervisory Committee initiation, in parentheses) 

James F. Ingold 
Gas Technology Institute (2018 – present) 

Bruce L. Fishstein, Former Chairperson  
Hudson Group (2016)

Joseph P. Vallaro, Former member,  
Retired, Kraft Foods Inc. (2011)

VOFCO BOARD OF MANAGERS

Bruno Sementilli, Chairman

Tavis Briechle, Manager, Treasurer & Secretary

Mark Werner, Manager

Greg Cooper, Manager

Graham Hunt, Manager

VOFCO OFFICERS

Todd Fasanella, CEO

Greg Cooper, Chief Investment Officer

John Campbell, General Counsel

Graham Hunt, Chief Credit Officer

SERVICE CENTER LOCATIONS

NEW YORK (HEADQUARTERS) 
2500 WESTCHESTER AVENUE, STE. 411 
PURCHASE, NY 10577 

ILLINOIS: 
Deerfield (Mondelēz International) 

NEW JERSEY: 
East Hanover (Mondelēz International  
North America Headquarters)*

NEW YORK:  
Manhattan (The Ogilvy Group, Inc.)*

*Closed in 2019.
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EXPERIENCE, EXPERIENCE, EXPERIENCE.

You’ve all heard it: The customer is king. In Spanish 

and Italian, it’s “The customer always has a reason.” In 

Japan, “The customer is a god.” Today more than ever, 

customers have a choice, and that means businesses—

the smart ones, at least—are looking to enhance the  

experience of every customer interaction, from  

navigating the website, to talking to a representative,  

to receiving a product or service.

At Quorum, we have a similar saying: “You’re the  

boss.” Members are part owners and operators of a  

cooperative; they have a vote to elect our board of  

directors, and receive profits back from us in the form 

of low or no fees for financial services, lower interest 

rates on loans and higher interest rates on deposits. 

And because they’re our boss, we want to be sure we’re 

meeting their demands. We weigh our investments 

carefully, and continually right-size them so that we can 

offer our members the best value at any given moment.

We’re making changes internally to achieve the best 

possible experience for all of our members (and  

partners), changes which will allow for less steps,  

more automation, faster servicing and turnaround 

times, greater satisfaction, all the while delivering  

competitive rates and products. We’re asking, “Why?” 

more. We’re reviewing paper processes and looking for 

digital alternatives. We’re evaluating our systems to be 

sure they are integrated, efficient, and current. Where 

we can allow our members the choice of self-service, 

we continue to invest in those processes as well. 

Enhancements in 2019 were considerable: implementing 

a new loan origination system, introducing a home  

equity loan service center (with extended hours and 

expert assistance), offering more education around our  

online/mobile banking service (as well as continuous 

investments into the technology). We launched a new, 

highly competitive HELOC product (the RealtyLine 

PLUS), and also welcomed new partners in specialty 

lending.

 

BUT WE’RE NOT CLOSE TO DONE.

We’re excited to bring Quorum into the future and 

are challenging ourselves to meet our members on 

their terms and on their time. We thank our long-time 

Quorum members who have seen us advance and 

welcomed this gradual evolution, and thank our new 

members, who have challenged us to broaden our  

digital offerings. We hope we continue to be their  

financial provider of choice, and one they can feel  

good about.

Thank you to our Board of Directors and Supervisory 

Committee, who have supported us on this journey,  

and remain committed to serving our members and 

their families.

Here’s to a great 2020, and a great banking  

experience for all. 

Sincerely,

BRUNO SEMENTILLI   MARK WERNER

President/CEO  Chairman

PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE 

MARK 
WERNER
Chairperson

MARK 
WERNER
Chairperson

BRUNO
SEMENTILLI
President/CEO



 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
CLAconnect.com 

 

5
 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
Board of Directors and Supervisory Committee 
Quorum Federal Credit Union and Subsidiary 
Purchase, New York 
 
Report on Consolidated Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Quorum Federal Credit Union and its 
Subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial condition as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), members' equity, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Quorum Federal Credit Union and its Subsidiary as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 

 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania 
April 24, 2020 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 

 

6                                                             See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements | Quorum Annual Report 2019 
 

 
2019 2018

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 39,477$           42,900$           
Available-for-Sale Securities 42,673             51,873             
Other Investments 5,302 5,392
Loans, Net 696,732           666,877           
Accrued Interest Receivable 4,151               4,202               
Leasehold Improvements and Equipment, Net 4,291               4,907               
Deposit in National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund 6,397               6,342               
Other Assets 42,231             35,042             

Total Assets 841,254$         817,535$         

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Members' Share Accounts 766,964$         748,383$         
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities 13,366             14,371             
Total Liabilities 780,330           762,754           

MEMBERS' EQUITY
Retained Earnings, Substantially Restricted 64,791             59,042             
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (3,283)              (3,645)              
Total Members' Equity before Noncontrolling Interest 61,508             55,397             

Noncontrolling Interest (584)                 (616)                 
Total Members' Equity 60,924             54,781             

Total Liabilities and Members' Equity 841,254$         817,535$         

 
 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 
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2019 2018

INTEREST INCOME
Loans 40,392$           41,232$           
Available-for-Sale Securities 994 993
Interest Bearing Deposits and Cash Equivalents 1,911 947
Total Interest Income 43,297             43,172             

INTEREST EXPENSE
Members' Share and Savings Accounts 12,041             8,357               
Borrowed Funds -                       377                  
Total Interest Expense 12,041             8,734               

Net Interest Income 31,256             34,438             

PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSSES 4,647               21,070             

Net Interest Income After Provision for Loan Losses 26,609             13,368             

NON-INTEREST INCOME
Checking Fees 1,043 1,156
Credit Card Fees 1,506 1,767
Check Card Fees 843 892
Late Fees 296 379
Gain on Sales of Loans 5,136 6,425
Gain on Sale of Visa B Shares 2,448               -                       
Net Loss on Sales of Assets (117)                 (40)                   
Other Fees 294 1,913
Total Non-Interest Income 11,449             12,492             

NON-INTEREST EXPENSE
General and Administrative:
Employee Compensation and Benefits 19,144 17,999
Office Operations 3,980 3,873
Loan Processing 4,125 6,543
Professional Fees and Other Outside Services 2,574 2,350
Office Occupancy 830 707
Marketing and Promotional 995 1,043
Travel and Conference 274 270
Other Non-Interest Expenses 387 1,338
Total Non-Interest Expense 32,309             34,123             

NET INCOME (LOSS) 5,749$             (8,263)$            

 
 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 
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2019 2018

NET INCOME (LOSS) 5,749$             (8,263)$            

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS):
Securities - Available-for-Sale
Unrealized Holding Gain (Loss) Arising During the Period 835 (41)

Subtotal 835                  (41)                   

Defined Benefit Pension and Healthcare Plans
Net Loss Arising During the Period (646)                 (638)
Reclassification Adjustment for Amortization of Prior Service
Cost and Net Gain Included in Periodic Pension Cost 173                  124                  
Subtotal (473)                 (514)                 

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 362                  (555)                 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 6,111$             (8,818)$            

 
 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS’ EQUITY 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 
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Accumulated

Other 
Statutory Undivided Comprehensive Noncontrolling
Reserves Earnings Loss Interest Total

BALANCES AT JANUARY 1, 2018 11,453$            55,852$            (3,090)$            (647)$               63,568$            

Net (Loss) -                       (8,263) -                       -                       (8,263)              

Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income -                       -                       (555)                 31 (524)                 

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 11,453              47,589              (3,645)              (616)                 54,781              

Net Income -                       5,749                -                       -                       5,749                

Other Comprehensive Income -                       -                       362                   32 394                   

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 11,453$            53,338$            (3,283)$            (584)$               60,924$            

 
 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 

 

10                                                             See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements | Quorum Annual Report 2019 
 

 
2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income (Loss) 5,749$                (8,263)$               
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income (Loss) to Net Cash
  Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortization 965                     782                     
Provision for Loan Losses 4,647                  21,070                
Equity Method Losses and Impairment -                          817                     
Amortization of Servicing Rights 853                     536                     
Impairment of Servicing Rights 1,522                  -                          
Capitalization of Servicing Rights (2,683)                 (3,085)                 
Amortization of Net Loan Origination Costs 400                     750                     
Net Amortization of Securities Premiums and Discounts 485                     684                     
Impairment Losses on Foreclosed Assets 560                     50                       
Proceeds from Sale of Loans 19,914                15,240                
Loans Originated for Sale (19,575)               (15,388)               
(Gain) Loss on Sale of Whole Loans, Net (339)                    148                     
Gain on Sale of Visa B Shares, Net (2,448)                 -                          
Loss on Sale of Assets, Net 117                     40                       
Changes in:

Accrued Interest Receivable 51                       (153)                    
Other Assets (9,898)                 1,774                  
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities (1,478)                 1,351                  

Net Cash (Used) Provided by Operating Activities (1,158)                 16,353                

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Securities:
  Available-for-Sale (44)                      (95)                      
Proceeds from Maturities and Paydowns of Securities - Available-for-Sale 9,594                  10,216                
Proceeds from Sales of Securities - Visa B Shares 2,448                  -                          
Net Decrease in Other Investments 113                     1,242                  
Net Purchases of Other Investments (23)                      (41)                      
Loan (Originations) Net of Principal Collected on Loans to Members (120,673)             (149,985)             
(Increase) Decrease in NCUSIF Deposit (55)                      285                     
Proceeds from Sales of Foreclosed Assets 1,064                  1,244                  
Expenditures for Premises and Equipment (349)                    (234)                    
Proceeds from Sale of Residential Mortgage Loan Participations 91,876                169,520              
Gain on Sale of Residential Mortgage Loan Participations (4,797)                 (6,573)                 

Net Cash (Used) Provided by Investing Activities (20,846)               25,579                

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net Increase (Decrease) in Members' Share Accounts 18,581                (9,985)                 
Repayment of Borrowed Funds -                          (26,000)               

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities 18,581                (35,985)               

(Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (3,423)                 5,947                  

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 42,900                36,953                  
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR 39,477$              42,900$              

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH AND CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Borrowed Funds Interest Paid -$                        377$                   

Members' Share and Savings Accounts Interest Paid 12,041$              8,357$                

Transfers of Loans to Foreclosed and Repossessed Assets 1,308$                2,444$                

 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of Business and Principles of Consolidation 

Quorum Federal Credit Union (the “Credit Union”) is chartered under the Federal Credit 
Union Act and is administratively responsible to the National Credit Union Administration. 
 
The Credit Union provides financial services primarily through digital services. Its primary 
deposit products are checking, savings, money market and term certificate accounts, and its 
primary lending products are residential mortgages, student loans, and consumer 
installment loans. A majority of loans are secured by specific items of collateral including 
consumer assets and residential real estate. 
 
The Credit Union also participates in loan programs through established relationships 
including vacation ownership companies, universities, and other credit unions. 
 
The consolidated financial statements include Quorum Federal Credit Union and its 79% 
owned subsidiary, Vacation Ownership Funding Company, LLC, together referred to as “the 
Credit Union.” The Vacation Ownership Funding Company, LLC was formed during 2009 for 
the purposes of providing consultative services on the Credit Union’s behalf to the time 
share industry in offering financing solutions to vacation ownership companies. 
Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation. 
 
The Credit Union’s field of membership includes not only full-time employees, retirees, 
immediate family members and households of Kraft Heinz, Inc., Mondelēz International, 
Altria Group, Inc., MasterCard, Inc., and other subsidiaries, but also other employee groups 
and associations. The Credit Union provides a full range of financial services to its 
members. 

 
Basis of Financial Statement Presentation and Use of Estimates 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and general practices within 
the credit union industry. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, Management is 
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the statement 
of financial condition and reported amounts of income and expenses for the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 
Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term 
include the valuation of securities and the determination of the allowance for loan losses. 

 
Financial Instruments with Concentrations of Risk 

The Credit Union is exposed to credit risk from a regional economic standpoint because 
significant concentrations of its borrowers work or reside within geographical regions.  



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Financial Instruments with Concentrations of Risk (Continued) 

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Credit Union has $41.1 and $49.9 million of loans 
collateralized by taxi medallions, respectively. Recently, market disruption has occurred in 
the taxi industry due to new competition. This competition has negatively impacted the taxi 
industry and its revenues and has caused the value of taxi medallions to decline over the 
past several years. Further or prolonged market disruption in the taxi industry may increase 
our delinquencies and nonaccrual loans collateralized by taxi medallions. It is at least 
reasonably possible that additional losses on these loans could be incurred in the near term 
due to further or prolonged market disruption impacting the value of taxi medallions. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
amounts due from banks and corporate credit unions (including cash items in process of 
collection), federal funds sold (which generally have a one-day maturity) and all highly liquid 
debt instruments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash flows from loans and 
members’ share accounts are reported net. The Credit Union maintains amounts due from 
banks and share deposits at a corporate credit union, which at times may exceed insured 
limits. The Credit Union has not experienced any losses from such concentrations. 
 
Securities 

Debt securities are classified as available-for-sale. Securities available-for-sale are carried at 
fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income (loss). 
Realized gains and losses on securities available-for-sale are included in non-interest 
income and, when applicable, are reported as a reclassification adjustment in other 
comprehensive income (loss). Gains and losses on sales of securities are determined using 
the specific identification method on the trade date. The amortization of premiums and 
accretion of discounts are recognized in interest income using methods approximating the 
interest method over the period to maturity. 
 
Declines in the fair value of individual available-for-sale securities below their cost that are 
other than temporary result in write-downs of the individual securities to their fair value. The 
Credit Union monitors the investment security portfolio for impairment on an individual 
security basis and has a process in place to identify securities that could potentially have a 
credit impairment that is other than temporary. This process involves analyzing the length of 
time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than the amortized cost basis, the 
market liquidity for the security, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, 
expected cash flows, and the Credit Union’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a 
period of time sufficient to recover the temporary loss. The ability to hold is determined by 
whether it is more likely than not that the Credit Union will be required to sell the security 
before its anticipated recovery. A decline in value due to a credit event that is considered 
other than temporary is recorded as a loss in non-interest income. 

 
The Credit Union did not record any other than temporary impairment during the years ended 
December 31, 2019 or 2018. 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 

 

Quorum Annual Report 2019 13 
 

 
NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Loans Held-for-Sale 

Loans originated and intended for sale in the secondary market are carried at the lower of 
aggregate cost or fair value, as determined by outstanding commitments from investors or 
from a third party valuation. Net unrealized losses, if any, are recorded as a valuation 
allowance and charged to earnings. Mortgage loans held for sale are generally sold with 
servicing rights retained. The carrying value of mortgage loans sold is reduced by the 
amount allocated to the servicing right. Gains and losses on sales of loans are based on the 
difference between the selling price and the carrying value of the related loan sold.  

 
The fair value of loans held for sale are estimated through discounted cash flow analyses 
using interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar credit quality and similar 
credit enhancement provisions. 
 
Membership Capital Stock Investment 

Membership Capital Stock Investment consists of Federal Home Loan Bank of New York 
(FHLB) stock and Central Liquidity Facility (CLF) stock. 
 
The Credit Union is a member of the FHLB. Members are required to own a certain amount 
of stock based on the level of borrowings and other factors. FHLB stock is carried at cost, 
classified as a restricted security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on 
ultimate recovery of par value. Cash dividends are reported in income. 
 
The Credit Union’s membership in the CLF provides access to a federal liquidity source for 
the primary purpose of emergency liquidity and contingency funding. The facility requires a 
capital stock subscription equal to ½ of 1% of the Credit Union’s average paid-in and 
unimpaired capital and surplus. Half of this stock subscription is paid to the facility, and the 
other half is available on call. Quarterly cash dividends on the facility paid portion of the stock 
subscription are reported in income. 
 
Loans, Net 

The Credit Union grants consumer, mortgage, vacation ownership, and commercial loans to 
members. A substantial portion of the loan portfolio is represented by mortgage loans to 
members. The ability of the members to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real 
estate and general economic conditions comprising the Credit Union’s field of membership. 
 
Loans that the Credit Union has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future are 
stated at unpaid principal balances, adjusted for an allowance for loan losses, and net 
deferred loan origination costs. Interest income on loans is recognized as earned over the 
term of the loan using the simple interest method applied to the outstanding principal 
balance of the loans. Loan origination fees, net of direct origination costs, are deferred and 
amortized as an adjustment of loan yield over the contractual life of the loan. The recorded 
investment in loans includes accrued interest receivable. 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Loans, Net (Continued) 

The accrual of interest on first and second mortgages and consumer loans is discontinued 
when the loan is 90 days past due based on contractual terms, pursuant to statutory 
regulation. Most consumer loans are typically charged off no later than 180 days past due, 
unless the Credit Union has reason to believe the loan is collectable. In all cases, loans are 
placed on nonaccrual status or charged off at an earlier date if collection of principal or 
interest is considered doubtful. Loans past 90 days still on accrual include vacation 
ownership loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment. Subsequent recognition of 
income occurs only to the extent payment is received subject to the Credit Union’s 
assessment of the collectability of the remaining principal and interest. 
 
All interest accrued but not received for loans placed on nonaccrual is reversed against 
interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is recognized only to the extent that cash 
payments are received and may be recorded as a reduction to the principal if collectability of 
all loan principal is unlikely. A nonaccrual loan is restored to accrual status when it is no 
longer 90 days delinquent and collectability of interest and principal is no longer in doubt. 
 
Allowance for Loan Losses 

The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance for probable incurred credit losses 
through a provision for loan losses charged to earnings. Loan losses are charged against the 
allowance when Management believes the uncollectability of a loan balance is confirmed. 
Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance. 
 
A loan is impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable the Credit 
Union will be unable to collect all contractual principal and interest payments due in 
accordance with the terms of the original loan agreement. Loans for which the terms have 
been modified resulting in a concession, and for which the borrower is experiencing financial 
difficulties, are considered troubled debt restructurings and classified as impaired. Factors 
considered by Management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral 
value, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. 
Loans that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not 
classified as impaired. Management determines the significance of payment delays and 
payment shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration all of the 
circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the length of the delay, the 
reasons for the delay, the borrower’s prior payment record, and the amount of shortfall in 
relation to the principal and interest owed. 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Allowance for Loan Losses (Continued) 

First and second mortgage real estate loans and commercial participations over $20, that 
are on nonaccrual status, are individually evaluated for impairment. Consumer loans over 
$20, if secured by collateral, or $10 if not secured by collateral, that are on nonaccrual status 
are also individually evaluated for impairment. If a loan is impaired, a portion of the 
allowance is allocated so that the loan is reported, net, at the present value of expected 
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate or, as a practical expedient, 
at the loan’s observable market price or the fair value of the collateral less estimated selling 
costs, if the loan is collateral dependent. Large groups of smaller balance homogeneous 
loans, including vacation ownership, are collectively evaluated for impairment, and 
accordingly, they are not separately identified for impairment disclosures. 
 
Troubled debt restructurings are separately identified for impairment disclosures and are 
measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan’s effective rate 
at inception. If a troubled debt restructuring is considered to be a collateral dependent loan, 
the loan is reported, net, at the fair value of the collateral. For troubled debt restructurings 
that subsequently default, the Credit Union determines the amount of reserve in accordance 
with accounting policy for the allowance for loan losses. 
 
The allowance for loan losses is evaluated on a regular basis by Management and is based 
upon Management’s periodic review of the collectability of the loans in light of historical 
experience, the nature and volume of the loan portfolio, adverse situations that may affect 
the borrower’s ability to repay, estimated value of any underlying collateral, prevailing 
economic conditions and other factors. This evaluation is inherently subjective as it requires 
estimates that are susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available. 
 
The general component covers non-impaired loans and is based on historical loss 
experience adjusted for current factors. The historical loss experience is determined by 
portfolio segment and is based on the actual loss history experienced by the Credit Union 
over the past two to five years. This actual loss experience is supplemented with other 
economic factors based on the risks present for each portfolio segment. These economic 
factors include consideration of the following:  levels of and trends in delinquencies and 
impaired loans; levels of and trends in charge-offs and recoveries; trends in volume and 
terms of loans; effects of any changes in risk selection and underwriting standards; other 
changes in lending policies, procedures, and practices; experience, ability, and depth in 
lending Management and other relevant staff; national and local economic trends and 
conditions; industry conditions; and effects of changes in credit concentrations. The following 
portfolio segments have been identified: residential real estate, consumer, vacation 
ownership and commercial. 
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Allowance for Loan Losses (Continued) 

The Credit Union has established credit policies applicable to each type of lending activity in 
which it engages. The Credit Union evaluates the creditworthiness of each member and, in 
most cases, extends credit of up to a specified percent of the market value of the collateral at 
the date of the credit extension, depending on the borrower’s creditworthiness and the type 
of collateral. While collateral provides assurance as a secondary source of repayment, the 
Credit Union ordinarily requires the primary source of repayment to be based on the 
borrower’s ability to generate continuing cash flows. The market value of collateral is 
monitored on an ongoing basis and additional collateral is obtained when warranted. Specific 
risk characteristics of the Credit Union’s portfolio segments include: 
 

Residential Real Estate:  Real estate is the primary form of collateral for a substantial 
portion of the Credit Union’s loans. For first mortgage real estate loans, the Credit 
Union’s policy for collateral requires that, generally, the amount of the loan may not 
exceed 80% of the original appraised value of the property however in certain cases 
loans will be granted up to 100% of the appraised value with private mortgage insurance. 
For second mortgages, the Credit Union’s policy for collateral requires that, generally, the 
amount of the loan may not exceed 95% of the original appraised value of the property. 
 
Residential participation loans are collateralized by residential real estate property. The 
Credit Union owns 90% of each loan. These loans can be a combination of fixed rate 
and adjustable rate mortgages. 
 
Consumer:  Consumer loans, including credit cards, unsecured loans and student 
loans, are evaluated based on the borrower’s ability to pay. 
 
Vacation Ownership:  The Credit Union enters into financing agreements with vacation 
ownership companies to provide loans for the purchase of vacation ownership intervals. 
The loans are purchased at a discount (generally 80% to 90% of loan balance in 2019 
and 2018). The discount amount is netted against the loan balances as a hold-back by 
the Credit Union and paid to the vacation ownership company over the term of the loan, 
as interest and principal is paid to the Credit Union. This holdback feature is structured to 
reduce the credit risk on this portfolio.  
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Allowance for Loan Losses (Continued) 

Commercial: Commercial participation loans are collateralized by commercial real 
estate property or taxi medallions. The Credit Union owns 90% of each loan. Historically, 
the Credit Union has not experienced any losses on the commercial loan real estate 
portfolio. 

 
Taxi participation loans are collateralized by taxi medallions, primarily in the cities of New 
York and Chicago. The Credit Union owns a percentage of each loan, primarily 90%. The 
introduction of application-based mobile ride services, such as Uber and Lyft, have 
generated increased competition in the transportation sector, resulting in a reduction in 
taxi utilization and, as a result, a reduction in the collateral value and credit quality of taxi 
medallion loans. This has increased the likelihood that loans secured by taxi medallions 
may default, or that the borrowers may be unable to repay these loans at maturity, 
potentially resulting in an increase in past due loans, TDRs, and charge-offs.  

 
The Credit Union assigns a risk rating to commercial real estate and periodically performs 
detailed evaluations of all such loans to identify credit risks and to assess the overall 
collectability of the portfolio. These risk ratings are also subject to examination by the Credit 
Union’s regulators. During the internal reviews, Management monitors and analyzes the 
financial condition of borrowers and guarantors, trends in the industries in which the 
borrowers operate and the fair values of collateral securing the loans. These credit quality 
indicators are used to assign a risk rating to each individual loan. The risk ratings can be 
grouped into the following major categories, defined as follows: 
 

Pass: Satisfactory asset quality; however, the borrower's financial condition may be 
leveraged, liquidity may be marginal and/or operating results uneven. Collateral remains 
protective of outstanding credit and cash flow is adequate to repay the debt as agreed. 
The financial trends are flat or, if negative, are deemed to be of a temporary nature and 
can be satisfactorily explained. Credit is still expected to pay out in the normal course, 
but may require increased loan officer attention. 

 
Watch: Loan paying as agreed with generally acceptable asset quality; however, 
borrower’s performance has not met expectations. Balance sheet and/or income 
statement has shown deterioration to the point that the company could not sustain further 
setbacks. Credit is expected to be strengthened through improved company performance 
and/or additional collateral within a reasonable period of time. 

 
Special Mention: Loans classified as Special Mention have a potential weakness that 
deserves Management's close attention. If left uncorrected, this potential weakness may 
result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the loan or of the institution's credit 
position at some future date. Special Mention loans are not adversely classified and do 
not expose the Credit Union to sufficient risk to warrant adverse classification. 

 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 

 

18                                                                                                                                                         Quorum Annual Report 2019 
 

 
NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Allowance for Loan Losses (Continued) 

Substandard: Loans classified as Substandard are not adequately protected by the 
current net worth and paying capacity of the borrower or of the collateral pledged, if any. 
Loans classified as Substandard have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that 
jeopardize the repayment of the debt. Well defined weaknesses include a borrower’s lack 
of marketability, inadequate cash flow or collateral support, failure to complete 
construction on time, or the failure to fulfill economic expectations. They are 
characterized by the distinct possibility that the Credit Union will sustain some loss if the 
deficiencies are not corrected. 

 
Doubtful: Loans classified as Doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those 
classified as Substandard, with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make 
collection or repayment in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and 
values, highly questionable and improbable. 

 
Loss: Loans classified as Loss are considered uncollectable and anticipated to be 
charged off. 
 

Management believes that the allowance for loan losses covers probable incurred losses. 
While Management uses the best information available to make its evaluation, future 
adjustments to the allowance for loan losses may be necessary if there are significant 
changes in economic conditions, particularly in the New York tri-state region and Illinois, or 
economic matters affecting employment at Kraft Heinz Inc., Mondelēz International and Altria 
Group, Inc. (See “Nature of Business” section for other information). In addition, the National 
Credit Union Administration (NCUA), as an integral part of its examination process, 
periodically reviews the Credit Union’s allowance for loan losses. The NCUA has the 
authority to require the Credit Union to make adjustments to the allowance or charge-offs 
based on their judgments about information available to them at the time of their 
examination. 
 

Transfers of Financial Assets and Participating Interests 

Transfers of an entire financial asset or a participating interest in an entire financial asset are 
accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been surrendered. Control over 
transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been isolated from 
the Credit Union, (2) the transferee obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from 
taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and (3) the 
Credit Union does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an 
agreement to repurchase them before their maturity. 
 
The transfer of a participating interest in an entire financial asset must also meet the 
definition of a participating interest. A participating interest in a financial asset has all of the 
following characteristics: (1) from the date of transfer, it must represent a proportionate (pro 
rata) ownership interest in the financial asset, (2) from the date of transfer, all cash flows 
received, except any cash flows allocated as any compensation for servicing or other 
services performed, must be divided proportionately among participating interest holders in 
the amount equal to their share ownership, (3) the rights of each participating interest holder 
must have the same priority, (4) no party has the right to pledge or exchange the entire 
financial asset unless all participating interest holders agree to do so. 
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Transfers of Financial Assets and Participating Interests (Continued) 

The Credit Union has purchased loan participations originated by various other credit unions, 
which are secured by, commercial real estate, first mortgage and taxi medallions of members 
of other credit unions. These loan participations were purchased without recourse and the 
originating credit union performs all loan servicing functions on these loans. Purchased loan 
participations totaled $67.9 million and $68.7 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. 
 

Servicing Rights 

Servicing rights are recognized as separate assets when rights are acquired through 
purchase or through sale of financial assets. 
 
For sales of mortgage loans, a portion of the cost of originating the loan is allocated to the 
servicing right based on the fair value of the servicing rights. Fair value is based on market 
prices for comparable mortgage servicing contracts, when available, or alternatively, is 
based on a valuation model that calculates the present value of estimated future net 
servicing income. The valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants 
would use in estimating future net servicing income, such as the cost to service, the discount 
rate, the custodial earnings rate, an inflation rate, ancillary income, prepayment speeds and 
default rates and losses. The Credit Union compares the valuation model inputs and results 
to published industry data in order to validate the model results and assumptions. Capitalized 
servicing rights are reported in other assets and are amortized into non-interest income in 
proportion to, and over the period of, the estimated future net servicing income of the 
underlying financial assets. 
 
Servicing assets are evaluated for impairment based upon the fair value of the rights as 
compared to the carrying amount. Fair Value is determined by stratifying rights into tranches 
based on predominant risk characteristics, such as interest rate, loan type, and investor type. 
Impairment is recognized through a valuation allowance and charged to other expense, for 
an individual tranche, to the extent that fair value is less than the capitalized amount of the 
tranche. If the Credit Union later determines that all or a portion of the impairment no longer 
exists for a particular tranche, a reduction of the allowance may be recorded as an increase 
to non-interest income. The fair values of servicing rights are subject to significant 
fluctuations as a result of changes in estimated and actual prepayment speeds and default 
rates and losses. Servicing fee income, which is reported on the consolidated statement of 
operations as non-interest income, is recorded for fees earned for servicing loans. The fees 
are based on a contractual percentage of the outstanding principal or a fixed amount per 
loan and are recorded as income when earned. The amortization of mortgage servicing 
rights, and any related impairment charge, is netted against loan servicing fee income. 
 
Foreclosed and Repossessed Assets 

Assets acquired through or instead of loan foreclosure are initially recorded at fair value less 
cost to sell when acquired, establishing a new cost basis. If fair value declines subsequent to 
foreclosure, a valuation allowance is recorded through expense. Operating costs after 
acquisition are expensed. 
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Leasehold Improvements and Equipment 

Leasehold improvements and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation 
and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method 
over the estimated lives of the assets, which range from 3-15 years. Leasehold 
improvements are amortized on the straight-line basis over the shorter of the remaining 
lease term or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. Gains and losses on 
dispositions are recognized upon realization. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as 
incurred and improvements are capitalized. Minimum lease payments for operating leases 
are charged to expense on the straight-line basis over the expected lease term. 
 

Impairment of Long-lived Assets 

Long-lived assets, including leasehold improvements and equipment, are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of an asset may not be recoverable. If impairment is indicated by that review, the asset is 
written down to its estimated fair value through a charge to non-interest expense. 
 
Deposit in National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund 

The deposit in the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund (NCUSIF) is in accordance 
with NCUA regulations, which require the maintenance of a deposit by each insured credit 
union in an amount equal to 1% of its insured shares. The deposit would be refunded to the 
Credit Union if its insurance coverage is terminated, it converts to insurance coverage from 
another source, or the operations of the fund are transferred from the NCUA Board. 
Generally, the NCUSIF deposit is noninterest-bearing. However, a special dividend may be 
paid on the NCUSIF deposit if the NCUSIF maintains a predetermined amount of reserves. 
In June 2009, the NCUA Board created the Stabilization Fund. The Stabilization Fund has 
the ability to borrow from the Treasury Department. The NCUSIF is prohibited from paying 
dividends while the Stabilization Fund has outstanding borrowings from the Treasury. The 
amount which would normally be paid as a dividend will be distributed to the Stabilization 
Fund during this period.  
 
Legislation was passed by Congress to permit NCUA to create a temporary Corporate Credit 
Union Stabilization Fund (CCUSF) to absorb costs and borrowings incurred by the Fund 
related to the corporate credit union collapse. Effective October 1, 2017, the NCUA closed 
the CCUSF and incorporated the assets into the NCUSIF. At its February 15, 2018, open 
meeting, the NCUA Board unanimously approved a NCUSIF equity distribution to all eligible 
financial institutions. The distribution was reported within Other Non-Interest Income and 
totaled approximately $106 and $497 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. 
 
Insurance Premiums 

A Credit Union is required to pay an insurance premium equal to a percent of its total insured 
shares, unless the payment is waived or reduced by the NCUA Board. In 2019 and 2018, the 
NCUA Board waived the insurance premium for insured shares outstanding during 2019 and 
2018. 
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Loan Commitments and Related Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit commitments, such as commitments 
to make loans, available lines of credit and outstanding loan purchase commitments. The 
face amount for these items represents the exposure to loss, before considering customer 
collateral or ability to repay. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded. 
 

Members’ Share Accounts 

Members’ share accounts are subordinated to all other liabilities of the Credit Union upon 
liquidation. Dividends on members’ share accounts are based on available earnings at the 
end of an interest period and are not guaranteed by the Credit Union. Dividend rates on 
members’ share accounts are set by Management, based on an evaluation of market 
conditions. 
 
Members’ Equity 

The aggregate amount of members’ equity arises from the accumulated earnings of the 
Credit Union, after payment of dividends to members. The Credit Union is required by 
regulation to maintain a statutory reserve. This reserve, which represents a regulatory 
restriction of retained earnings, is not available for the payment of dividends. The board of 
directors may, from time to time, make additional appropriations from retained earnings, 
which would also be restricted as to the payment of dividends. 
 
Income Taxes 

The Credit Union is exempt, by statute, from federal, state and other income and franchise 
taxes. 
 
Retirement Plans 

The Credit Union sponsored a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering certain 
full-time employees. Effective June 15, 2016, the Credit Union froze the plan’s benefit 
accruals and participants. Participants became eligible for the plan after completing one-half 
year of service. Participants became 100% vested after three years of service. Benefits were 
based upon years of service and level of compensation during specified years of 
employment. 
 

Pension expense is the net of service and interest cost, return on plan assets and 
amortization of gains and losses not immediately recognized. Employee 401(k) expense is 
the amount of matching contributions. 
 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Accounting principles generally require that recognized revenue, expenses, gains, and 
losses be included in net income (loss). Although certain changes in assets and liabilities, 
such as unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and pension liability 
adjustments, are reported as a separate component of the members’ equity section of the 
consolidated statements of financial condition, such items, along with net income (loss), are 
components of comprehensive income (loss). 
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) included in members’ 
equity, by component, are as follows: 
 

Securities - Defined
Available-for- Benefit

Sale Plan Total
BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2017 (900)$              (2,190)$           (3,090)$           

Other Comprehensive (Loss) Before
  Reclassifications (41)                  (638)                (679)                

Amounts Reclassified from Accumulated Other
  Comprehensive Income (Loss) -                      124                 124                 

Net Prior-Period Other Comprehensive
   Income (Loss) (41)                  (514)                (555)                

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 (941)                (2,704)             (3,645)             

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Before
  Reclassifications 835                 (646)                189                 

Amounts Reclassified from Accumulated Other
  Comprehensive Income (Loss) -                      173                 173                 

Net Current-Period Other Comprehensive
  Income (Loss) 835                 (473)                362                 

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 (106)$              (3,177)$           (3,283)$           
 

 
Reclassifications from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for securities – 
available-for-sale are posted through net gain on sale of available-for-sale securities on the 
consolidated statements of operations. The components of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) for defined benefit and post-retirement benefit plans are 
included in the computation of net periodic pension cost and net periodic post-retirement 
cost. See pension and post-retirement benefit plan footnotes for additional details. 
 
Loss Contingencies 

Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of 
business, are recorded as liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or 
range of loss can be reasonably estimated. Management does not believe there now are 
such matters that will have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market information and 
other assumptions, as more fully disclosed in Note 15. Fair value estimates involve 
uncertainties and matters of significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk, 
prepayments, and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for particular 
items. Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could significantly affect the 
estimates. 
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NOTE 1 NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 (CONTINUED) 

Split Dollar Life Insurance 

The Credit Union has paid funds into life insurance policies and funding accounts connected 
to the policies on behalf of select executives. The executive owns the policy on their life and 
related accounts, but the Credit Union holds a first lien on the policy and accounts as 
security for repayment of the advanced funds plus compounded interest at the long-term 
applicable federal rate. The loans are made with recourse which allows Management to seek 
recovery beyond the current cash surrender value of the policies. 
 
During their life, the executives can draw from the policy cash values to supplement 
retirement income. Executive draws are strictly limited so that they never put the policy at risk 
of lapsing. 
 
At the executive’s death, the death proceeds are allocated to (1) pay the Credit Union the 
outstanding loan balance plus accrued interest, and (2) all or 75% of the funds available 
after full payment of the executive loan provide a death benefit for the executive’s 
beneficiaries, with any remainder paid to the Credit Union.  
 
The total unpaid principal balance, including interest, of the loans was $17,508 and $17,120 
at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The total collateral, consisting of the cash 
surrender value and assigned value of annuity contracts, was $14,460 and $13,230 as of 
December 31, 2019  and 2018, respectively.  
 
Noncontrolling Interests  

The Credit Union reports the noncontrolling (that is, minority) interest in its subsidiary as 
members’ equity in the consolidated financial statements and account for transactions 
between the entity and all noncontrolling owners as equity transactions. 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements 

The Credit Union adopted ASU 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and all 
subsequent amendments to the ASU (collectively, “ASC 606”), which (1) creates a single 
framework for recognizing revenue from contracts with members that fall within its scope and 
(2) revises when it is appropriate to recognize a gain (loss) from the transfer of nonfinancial 
assets, such as foreclosed assets. The majority of the Credit Union’s revenues come from 
interest income on loans and investment securities, which are outside the scope of ASC 606. 
The Credit Union’s services that fall within the scope of ASC 606 are presented within non-
interest income and are recognized as revenue as the Credit Union satisfies its obligation to 
the member. Significant services within the scope of ASC 606 include service charges on 
deposits and interchange income. On January 1, 2019, the Credit Union adopted the 
accounting guidance in ASC 606 using the modified retrospective method applied to those 
contracts with members which were not completed as of January 1, 2019. Results for 
reporting periods beginning January 1, 2019 are presented under Topic 606, while prior 
period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with the Credit 
Union’s historic accounting under Topic 605, Revenue Recognition. Refer to Note 16 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers for further discussion on the Credit Union’s 
accounting policies for revenue sources within the scope of ASC 606. Except for the addition 
of required disclosures, the adoption of this ASU did not have an impact to the Credit Union’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) 

On January 1, 2019, the Credit Union adopted ASU 2016-01 Financial Instruments – Overall: 
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. This ASU 
changes how entities account for equity investments that do not result in consolidation and 
are not accounted for under the equity method of accounting.  Entities are required to 
measure these investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period and recognize 
changes in fair value in net income.  A practicability exception is available for equity 
investments that do not have readily determinable fair values; however, the exception 
requires the Credit Union to adjust the carrying amount for impairment and observable price 
changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the same issuer.  
This guidance also changes certain disclosure requirements and other aspects of current 
GAAP.  This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and for 
interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019.  The Credit Union adopted 
ASU 2016-01 effective January 1, 2019 and there was no material impact related to the 
adoption. 
 
In February 2016, the FASB approved ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The ASU is 
designed to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing 
lease assets and lease liabilities on the Statement of Financial Condition and disclosing key 
information about leasing arrangements. The ASU is effective for the Credit Union for the 
fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2020 and interim periods within the fiscal year 
beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted. The Credit Union is 
currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2016-02 on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
In June 2016, the FASB approved ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses 
(Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. In November 2018, 
the FASB approved ASU 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial 
Instruments – Credit Losses. The main objective of the ASUs is to provide financial 
statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on 
financial instruments and other commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at 
each reporting date. To achieve this objective, the amendments in the ASUs replace the 
incurred loss impairment methodology in current GAAP with a methodology that reflects 
expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and 
supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. In November 2019, the FASB 
approved ASU 2019-10, Financial Instruments- Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and 
Hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842). The main objective of this ASU was to delay 
the effective date for the referenced standards. Based upon the new effective dates 
instituted by ASU 2019-10, ASU 2016-13 is effective for the Credit Union for the fiscal year 
and all interim periods beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is permitted for 
the fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within this fiscal 
year. The Credit Union is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2016-13 and ASU 2018-19 
on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Credit Union adopted ASU 2017-07, 
Compensation – Retirement Benefits (Topic 715). The guidance requires presentation of the 
service cost component of net periodic benefit cost within the same line items as other 
compensation costs arising from services rendered by relevant employees during the period. 
The guidance also requires the nonservice cost components of net periodic benefit cost to 
be presented separately in the statement of income from the service cost component. Prior 
period amounts have not been reclassified. 
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued) 

In March 2017, the FASB approved ASU 2017-08, Receivables – Nonrefundable Fees and 
Other Costs (Subtopic 310-20): Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt 
Securities. The guidance requires an entity to shorten the amortization period for certain 
purchased callable debt securities held at a premium to the earliest call date. The standard 
will be effective for the Credit Union for annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. Management believes that this standard will 
not have a material impact on the Credit Union’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

Subsequent Events 

Subsequent to year-end, the World Health Organization declared the spread of Coronavirus 
Disease (COVID-19) a worldwide pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic is having significant 
effects on global markets, supply chains, businesses, and communities. Specific to the 
Credit Union, COVID-19 may impact various parts of its 2020 operations and financial results 
including but not limited to additional loan loss reserves, costs for emergency preparedness, 
or potential shortages of personnel. Management believes the Credit Union is taking 
appropriate actions to mitigate the negative impact. However, the full impact of COVID-19 is 
unknown and cannot be reasonably estimated as these events occurred subsequent to year- 
end and are still developing. 

 

During the period from January 1, 2020 through April 24, 2020, both domestic and 
international equity markets have experienced significant declines.  These losses are not 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2019 as these events occurred subsequent to year-end and are still developing. 

 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Credit Union has evaluated events 
and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure through April 24, 2020, the date the 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issue. 
 

NOTE 2 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following at December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

2019 2018
Cash on Hand 1,475$             1,595$             
Demand Deposits at Banks 36,382             37,780             
Cash at Corporate Credit Unions 1,620               3,525               
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 39,477$           42,900$           

 
The Credit Union is required to maintain reserves against its respective transaction accounts 
and nonpersonal time deposits. The Credit Union was required to have cash and liquid 
assets of $6,418 and $7,116 to meet these requirements at December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. 
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NOTE 3 SECURITIES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS  

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES: 

A summary of the amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and fair value of 
available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2019 and 2018 follows: 
 

Gross Gross Fair Value
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized (Carrying

Cost Gains Losses Value)
Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Home Equity Conversion Mortgages 3,592$           40$                (1)$                 3,631$           
Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Mortgage-Backed Securities Residential 7,175             11                  (48)                 7,138             

Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Collateralized Mortgage Obligations 5,252             13                  (48)                 5,217             
Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Federal Agency Securities 22,694           -                     (91)                 22,603           
Municipal Bonds 4,066             18                  -                     4,084             

Total 42,779$         82$                (188)$             42,673$         

Gross Gross Fair Value
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized (Carrying

Cost Gains Losses Value)
Government Sponsored Entities - 

  Home Equity Conversion Mortgages 7,094$           -$                   (71)$               7,023$           
Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Mortgage-Backed Securities Residential 10,007           1                    (92)                 9,916             
Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Collateralized Mortgage Obligations 5,708             -                     (34)                 5,674             
Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Federal Agency Securities 22,847           -                     (668)               22,179           
Municipal Bonds 7,158             -                     (77)                 7,081             

Total 52,814$         1$                  (942)$             51,873$         

2019

2018
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NOTE 3 SECURITIES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES (CONTINUED): 

The following table presents the Credit Union available-for-sale securities, gross unrealized 
losses, and fair value, aggregated by the length of time the individual securities have been in 
a continuous unrealized loss position: 
 

Less Than Twelve Months Greater Than Twelve Months
Gross Gross

December 31, 2019 Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair
Losses Value Losses Value

Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Home Equity Conversion Mortgages (1)$                 705$              (1)$                 432$              
Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Mortgage-Backed Securities Residential -                     -                     (48)                 4,657             

Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Collateralized Mortgage Obligations (48)                 4,401             -                     -                 
Government Sponsored Entities - 

  Federal Agency Securities -                     -                     (91)                 22,603           

Total Available-for-Sale (49)$               5,106$           (140)$             27,692$         

Less Than Twelve Months Greater Than Twelve Months
Gross Gross

December 31, 2018 Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair

Losses Value Losses Value
Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Home Equity Conversion Mortgages -$                   -$                   (71)$               7,023$           

Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Mortgage-Backed Securities Residential -                     -                     (92)                 9,696             
Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Collateralized Mortgage Obligations -                     -                     (34)                 5,674             

Government Sponsored Entities - 
  Federal Agency Securities -                     -                     (668)               22,179           
Municipal Bonds -                     -                     (77)                 7,081             

Total Available-for-Sale -$                   -$                   (942)$             51,653$         

2019

2018

 
 
At December 31, 2019, the 10 securities with unrealized losses have depreciated 0.58% 
from the Credit Union’s amortized cost basis. All of these securities are either guaranteed by 
federal insurance, the U.S. Government, and/or secured by mortgage loans or issued by 
local municipalities. These unrealized losses relate principally to changes in interest rates for 
similar types of securities. In analyzing an issuer’s financial condition, Management 
considers whether the securities are issued by the federal government or its agencies, 
whether downgrades by bond rating agencies have occurred, and the results of reviews of 
the issuer’s financial condition. As Management has the ability to hold securities until 
maturity or for the foreseeable future for those classified as available-for-sale, no declines 
are deemed to be other-than-temporary. 
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NOTE 3 SECURITIES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES (CONTINUED): 

U.S. Government agencies include Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal National Mortgage 
Association, and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation bonds. Mortgage-backed 
securities and collateralized mortgage obligations are residential loans pools issued by the 
Federal National Mortgage Association, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, and 
the Government National Mortgage Association. Home equity conversion mortgages are 
residential pools of reverse mortgages issued and guaranteed by the Government National 
Mortgage Association. Unrealized losses on these securities have not been recognized into 
income because the issues are of high credit quality, Management does not intend to sell, it 
is not more likely than not that Management would be required to sell the securities prior to 
their anticipated recovery, and the decline in fair value is largely due to change in interest 
rates. The fair value is expected to recover as the securities approach maturity. 
 
In general, investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and overall 
market volatility risk. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is 
reasonably possible that changes in the values of the investments will occur in the near term 
and that such changes could be material. 
 
During 2019 the Credit Union sold their entire investment in Visa B Shares at a gain of 
$2,448. Previous to the sale, Visa B shares were carried at cost (which was $-0- ), less any 
impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly 
transactions.  There were no sales of securities during 2018. 

 
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of securities, at December 31, 2019, by 
contractual maturity, are shown below. Expected maturities will differ from contractual 
maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without 
call or prepayment penalties. 
 

Fair Value
Amortized (Carrying

Cost Value)
Government Sponsored Entities - 

 Federal Agency Securities and Municipal Bonds:
Less Than One Year 6,144$                6,124$                
One to Five Years 20,616                20,563                

26,760                26,687                
Government Sponsored Entities - 

Home Equity Conversion Mortgages 3,592           3,631           
Mortgage-Backed Securities Residential and
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations 12,427                12,355                

Total 42,779$              42,673$              
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NOTE 3 SECURITIES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

OTHER INVESTMENTS: 
 
Other investments are summarized as follows: 
 

2019 2018
Perpetual Contributed Capital Accounts 1,500$             1,500$             
FHLB Stock 509                  511                  
Central Liquidity Facility Stock 2,019               2,131               
Investments in CUSOs 1,274               1,250               
Total 5,302$             5,392$             

 
 
Perpetual Contributed Capital Accounts 

The Credit Union maintains perpetual contributed capital accounts with Alloya Corporate 
Federal Credit Union that are uninsured and contain significant withdrawal restrictions. 
 
These uninsured deposits are part of the corporate credit union’s regulatory capital and are 
subject to impairment or loss in the event the corporate credit union is required to merge, is 
placed into conservatorship, incurs significant losses, or is liquidated. 
 
FHLB Stock 

The Credit Union has an investment in Federal Home Loan Bank of New York (FHLB) stock 
that allows the Credit Union access to other FHLB financial services. The stock qualifies as a 
restricted stock and as such is not subject to investment security accounting treatment and 
is, therefore, reported at cost, subject to impairment. 
 
Central Liquidity Facility Stock 

The Credit Union is a member of the NCUA Central Liquidity Facility (Facility), which was 
formed to assist member credit unions in meeting their short-term liquidity needs. 
Membership is obtained through investment in shares of the Facility as determined by a 
statutory formula. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Credit Union had not borrowed 
from the Facility. 
 
Investments in CUSOs  

The Credit Union’s ownership interest in Payment Systems for Credit Unions, Inc. (PSCU) is 
stated at cost plus undistributed allocated equities, and totals $1,054 and $1,045 as of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. PSCU operates as a cooperative, providing 
transaction card services on a service-at-cost basis for the mutual benefit of its patrons 
(credit union owners). PSCU distributes patronage dividends to its members in the form of 
cash and revolving fund certificates.   
 
The Credit Union has a non-controlling equity ownership in Ongoing Operations (OGO) 
which provides IT disaster recovery and business continuance services to credit unions and 
related entities.  
 
The Credit Union also has non-controlling equity ownership interests in CUSOs providing 
services to the credit union market. 

 
As a practical expedient, the investments in CUSOs are reported at cost, less impairment, 
plus or minus price changes from observable market transactions.  
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NOTE 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE 

The composition of loans receivable at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 
 

2019 2018
Consumer:

Credit Card 30,769$           38,040$           
Automobile 474                  558                  
Unsecured 1,859               2,004               
Secured 333                  428                  
Private Student Loans 67,476             72,568             
Medical 11,878             22,960             

Subtotal 112,789           136,558           
Residential Real Estate:

First Mortgage 254,043           233,285           
Home Secured 456                  613                  
RealtyLine 155,506           134,240           

Subtotal 410,005           368,138           
Vacation Ownership 120,299           132,801           
Commercial:

Taxi Participation 41,101             49,920             
Commercial Real Estate Participation 41,877             15,175             

Total Loans 726,071           702,592           
Net Deferred Loan Origination Costs (Fees) 1,161               1,060               
Allowance for Loan Losses (30,500)            (36,775)            

Loans, Net 696,732$         666,877$         
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NOTE 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 

The following tables present the activity in the allowance for loan losses by portfolio segment 
for the years ending December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

Residential

Real Vacation Commercial

Consumer Estate Ownership Real Estate Taxi Total

Allowance for Loan Losses:

Balance at Beginning of Year 6,973$        1,407$        -$                7$               28,388$      36,775$      

Provision for Loan Losses 3,051          120             -                  437             1,039          4,647          

Loans Charged Off (5,378)         (257)            -                  -                  (6,021)         (11,656)       

Recoveries of Loans -                  

  Previously Charged Off 696             30               -                  -                  8                 734             

Balance at End of Year 5,342$        1,300$        -$                444$           23,414$      30,500$      

Ending Balance: Individually
  Evaluated for Impairment 1,372$        821$           -$                248$           23,296$      25,737$      

Ending Balance: Collectively

  Evaluated for Impairment 3,969$        479$           -$                196$           119$           4,763$        

Total Allowance

  for Loan Losses 5,341$        1,300$        -$                444$           23,415$      30,500$      

Loans:

Ending Balance: Individually

  Evaluated for Impairment 2,578$        8,009$        -$                770$           39,103$      50,460$      

Ending Balance: Collectively

  Evaluated for Impairment 110,211$     401,996$     120,299$     41,107$      1,998$        675,611$     

.

Total Loans 112,789$     410,005$     120,299$     41,877$      41,101$      726,071$     

2019

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 (Dollars in Thousands) 

 

32                                                                                                                                                         Quorum Annual Report 2019 
 

 
NOTE 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 
 

Residential

Real Vacation Commercial  

Consumer Estate Ownership Real Estate Taxi Total

Allowance for Loan Losses:

Balance at Beginning of Year 6,765$        1,659$        -$                26$             25,700$      34,150$      

Provision (Credit) for Loan Losses 7,309          (79)              -                  (19)              13,859        21,070        

Loans Charged Off (7,901)         (242)            -                  -                  (11,352)       (19,495)       

Recoveries of Loans

  Previously Charged Off 800             69               -                  -                  181             1,050          
Balance at End of Year 6,973$        1,407$        -$                7$               28,388$      36,775$      

Ending Balance: Individually

  Evaluated for Impairment 2,105$        1,001$        -$                -$                27,446$      30,552$      

Ending Balance: Collectively

  Evaluated for Impairment 4,868$        406$           -$                7$               942$           6,223$        

Total Allowance 
  for Loan Losses 6,973$        1,407$        -$                7$               28,388$      36,775$      

Loans:

Ending Balance: Individually
  Evaluated for Impairment 3,411$        10,461$      -$                -$                45,010$      58,882$      

Ending Balance: Collectively

  Evaluated for Impairment 133,147$     357,677$     132,801$     15,175$      4,910$        643,710$     

Total Loans 136,558$     368,138$     132,801$     15,175$      49,920$      702,592$     

2018

 
 
To estimate the $23,296 in taxi participation loan specific reserves at December 31, 2019, 
the Credit Union utilized a third-party valuation specialist to value the underlying collateral of 
taxi medallions. The valuation methodology employed by the specialist includes a weighted 
average of sales transactions, broker price quotes, discounted cash flow, and a capitalization 
model. Based on the third-party specialist valuation, the fair value of a taxi medallion is $213 
in New York City and $37 in Chicago, which represent the major geographic regions within 
the taxi medallion loan portfolio.  
 
Taxi medallion loans delinquent by 30 days or more totaled $23,386 and $27,446 as of 
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 respectively. Scheduled maturities for the taxi 
medallion loan portfolio as of December 31, 2019 are as follows: 
 

Year Ending December 31, Amount
2020 30,070$    
2021 7,347        
2022 848           
2023 -                
2024 -                

Thereafter 2,836        
Total 41,101$    
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NOTE 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 

The Credit union has provided for estimated losses through December 31, 2019 in the 
allowance; however, further deterioration in the value of medallions may result in higher 
delinquencies and losses beyond that provided in the allowance for loan losses. At  
December 31, 2019, the allowance associated with taxi medallion loans was $23,414 which 
consisted of specific reserves of $23,296 and a general reserve of $119. At December 31, 
2018, the allowance associated with taxi medallion loans was $28,388 which consisted of 
specific reserves of $27,446 and general reserve of $942. 
 
The following table’s present information related to loans individually evaluated for 
impairment by class of loans as of December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

Unpaid Average Interest
Recorded Principal Related Recorded Income

Investment Balance Allowance Investment Recognized
With No Related Allowance:
Medical 14$                14$                -$                   14$                -$                   
First Mortgage 2,678             2,678             -                     2,068             -                     
RealtyLine 771                771                -                     3                    -                     
Taxi 1,327             1,327             -                     664                -                     

Subtotal 4,790             4,790             -                     2,749             -                     

With An Allowance Recorded:
Credit Card 518                518                500                683                -                     
Unsecured 143                143                71                  140                -                     
Private Student Loans 1,712             1,712             629                1,876             -                     
Medical 191                191                172                265                -                     
First Mortgage 3,920             3,920             551                4,648             -                     
RealtyLine 640                640                270                1,088             -                     
Taxi 37,776           37,776           23,296           41,393           -                     

Commercial Participation 770                770                248                385                -                     
Subtotal 45,670           45,670           25,737           50,478           -                     

Total Impaired Loans:
Consumer 2,578$           2,578$           1,372$           2,978$           -$                   

Residential Real Estate 8,009$           8,009$           821$              7,807$           -$                   
Taxi 39,103$         39,103$         23,296$         42,057$         -$                   

Commercial Participation 770$              770$              248$              385$              -$                   

2019
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NOTE 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 

Unpaid Average Interest
Recorded Principal Related Recorded Income

Investment Balance Allowance Investment Recognized
With No Related Allowance:
First Mortgage 1,459$           1,459$           -$                   1,724$           19$                
RealtyLine 2,090             2,090             -                     1,794             4                    

Subtotal 3,549             3,549             -                     3,518             23                  

With An Allowance Recorded:

Credit Card 847                847                807                1,033             60                  

Automobile 48                  48                  48                  28                  -                     

Unsecured 136                136                59                  138                -                     

Private Student Loans 2,040             2,040             879                1,355             58                  

Medical 340                340                312                284                4                    

First Mortgage 5,376             5,376             577                6,011             21                  

RealtyLine 1,536             1,536             424                932                66                  

Taxi 45,010           45,010           27,446           47,076           307                

Subtotal 55,333           55,333           30,552           56,857           515                

Total Impaired Loans:
Consumer 3,411$           3,411$           2,105$           2,838$           122$              
Residential Real Estate 10,461$         10,461$         1,001$           10,461$         110$              
Taxi 45,010$         45,010$         27,446$         47,076$         307$              

2018

 
 
The cash basis income on impaired loans was not materially different for 2019 and 2018. 
The recorded investment includes loan origination fees and excludes accrued interest 
receivable. 
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NOTE 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 

The following tables present the aging of the recorded investment in past due loans by class 
of loans as of December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

Nonaccrual
30-89  90 Days or  90 Days or Total

Current Days Past Due More Past Due More Past Due Loans
Consumer:

Credit Card 29,383$         868$              -$                   518$              30,769$         
Automobile 426                48                  -                     -                     474                
Unsecured 1,837             21                  -                     1                    1,859             
Secured 333                -                     -                     -                     333                
Private Student Loans 65,953           1,168             -                     355                67,476           
Medical 11,243           426                -                     209                11,878           

Residential Real Estate:
First Mortgage 247,568         5,496             -                     979                254,043         
Home Secured 274                -                     -                     182                456                
RealtyLine 147,697         6,852             -                     957                155,506         

Vacation Ownership 114,929         3,529             -                     1,841             120,299         
Commercial:

Taxi -                     1,998             -                     39,103           41,101           
Commercial  40,403           1,474             -                     -                     41,877           

Total 660,046$       21,880$         -$                   44,145$         726,071$       

Nonaccrual
30-89  90 Days or  90 Days or Total

Current Days Past Due More Past Due More Past Due Loans
Consumer:

Credit Card 36,409$         859$              -$                   772$              38,040$         
Automobile 504                54                  -                     -                     558                
Unsecured 1,956             47                  -                     1                    2,004             
Secured 428                -                     -                     -                     428                
Private Student Loans 70,807           1,176             -                     585                72,568           
Medical 21,982           641                -                     337                22,960           

Residential Real Estate:
First Mortgage 230,765         434                -                     2,086             233,285         
Home Secured 390                4                    -                     219                613                
RealtyLine 129,952         3,075             -                     1,213             134,240         

Vacation Ownership 126,433         3,937             2,431             -                     132,801         
Commercial:

Taxi 22,474           -                     -                     27,446           49,920           
Commercial    15,175           -                     -                     -                     15,175           

Total 657,275$       10,227$         2,431$           32,659$         702,592$       

Accruing Interest

Accruing Interest

2019

2018

 
 
Interest income foregone on nonaccrual taxi medallion loans was $435 and $555 for the 
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. For all other nonaccrual loans 
interest income was immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
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NOTE 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 

The following tables present loans by class modified as troubled debt restructurings that 
occurred during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

Number of Post-modification Number of Post-modification
Loans Outstanding Balance Loans Outstanding Balance

Private Student Loans 4 532$                        3 247$                        

Taxi  4 849                          1 429                          

Total 8 1,381$                     4 676$                        

Number of Post-modification Number of Post-modification
Loans Outstanding Balance Loans Outstanding Balance

Private Student Loans 7 747$                        2 286$                        
Taxi  10 8,920                       0 -                               

Total 17 9,667$                     2 286$                        

Troubled Debt Restructurings
That Subsequently Defaulted

2019
Troubled Debt Restructurings
That Subsequently Defaulted

2018

Troubled Debt Restructurings

Troubled Debt Restructurings

 
 
The following tables show the types of modifications made during the years ended  
December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

Maturity and

Interest Rate Extended Interest Rate Principal

Adjustment Maturities Adjustment Forgiveness Bankruptcy Other Total

Private Student Loans -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                532$            532$            

Taxi  -                  -                  849             -                  -                  -                  849             

Total -$                -$                849$            -$                -$                532$            1,381$         

Maturity and

Interest Rate Extended Interest Rate Principal

Adjustment Maturities Adjustment Forgiveness Bankruptcy Other Total

Private Student Loans -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                747$            747$            

Taxi  -                  -                  8,920           -                  -                  -                  8,920           

Total -$                -$                8,920$         -$                -$                747$            9,667$         

2019

2018

 
 
The Credit Union has no commitments to lend additional amounts to members with 
outstanding loans that are classified as troubled debt restructurings. A loan is considered to 
be in payment default once it is 30 days past due under the modified terms.  
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NOTE 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 

The following tables show the commercial loan portfolio segments allocated by 
Management’s internal risk ratings: 
 

Risk Rating: 2019 2018
  Pass 39,633$                     15,175$                     
  Substandard 1,474                         -                                 
  Doubtful 770                            -                                 
    Total 41,877$                     15,175$                     

Commercial Real Estate Participations
Commercial Credit Risk Profile by Risk Rating 

 
 
In order to determine whether a borrower is experiencing financial difficulty, an evaluation is 
performed of the probability that the borrower will be in payment default on any of its debt in 
the foreseeable future without the modification. This evaluation is performed under the Credit 
Union’s internal underwriting policy. 
 
The Credit Union considers the performance of the loan portfolio and its impact on the 
allowance for loan losses. For all loan classes, the Credit Union also evaluates credit quality 
based on the aging status of the loan, which was previously presented, and by payment 
activity. The following tables present the recorded investment (inclusive of deferred costs) in 
all loan classes based on payment activity: 
 

Performing Non-Performing Total
Consumer:

Credit Card 30,251$              518$                   30,769$              
Automobile 474                     -                          474                     
Unsecured 1,858                  1                         1,859                  
Secured 333                     -                          333                     
Private Student Loans 67,121                355                     67,476                
Medical 11,669                209                     11,878                

Residential Real Estate:  
First Mortgage 253,064              979                     254,043              
Home Secured 274                     182                     456                     
RealtyLine 154,549              957                     155,506              

Vacation Ownership 118,458              1,841                  120,299              
Commercial:

Taxi  1,998                  39,103                41,101                
Total 640,049$            44,145$              684,194$            

Payment Activity
2019
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NOTE 4 LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 

Performing Non-Performing Total
Consumer:

Credit Card 37,268$              772$                   38,040$              
Automobile 558                     -                          558                     
Unsecured 2,003                  1                         2,004                  
Secured 428                     -                          428                     
Private Student Loans 71,983                585                     72,568                
Medical 22,623                337                     22,960                

Residential Real Estate:  
First Mortgage 231,199              2,086                  233,285              
Home Secured 394                     219                     613                     
RealtyLine 133,027              1,213                  134,240              

Vacation Ownership 132,801              -                          132,801              
Commercial:

Taxi  22,474                27,446                49,920                

Total 654,758$            32,659$              687,417$            

Payment Activity
2018

 
 
The delinquent vacation ownership loans are considered performing due to the credit 
enhancement feature. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were $120,299 and $132,801 
respectively, in vacation ownership loans. 

 
In addition to loans that are on nonaccrual, the Credit Union considers loans less than 90 
days delinquent for which there is reasonable doubt of collecting the scheduled principal and 
interest payments as nonperforming loans. 
 
There were $2,164 (net of $2,352 valuation allowance) and $1,622 (net of $2,432 valuation 
allowance) in repossessed assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018. At December 31, 2018, 
there were $974 (net of $-0- valuation allowance) in other real estate owned, which are 
reported in other assets. At December 31, 2019, there were no other real estate owned, 
which are reported in other assets. 
 
 

NOTE 5 LOAN SERVICING 

Loans serviced for others are not included in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
financial condition. 
 
The unpaid principal balance of these loans serviced for others was $461,895 and $471,312 
at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 
Servicing fees totaled $1,915 and $1,288 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. 
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NOTE 5 LOAN SERVICING (CONTINUED) 

The following summarizes the activity pertaining to mortgage servicing rights and the related 
valuation allowance: 
 

2019 2018
Servicing Rights:

Balance at Beginning of Year 5,731$             3,182$             
Additions 2,683               3,085               
Change in Valuation Allowance -                       -                       
Amortization of Mortgage Servicing Rights (853)                 (536)                 

Balance at End of Year 7,561$             5,731$             

Valuation Allowances:
Balance at Beginning of Year -$                     -$                     

Additions 1,522               -                       
Reductions -                       -                       

Balance at End of Year 1,522$             -$                     

 
The balance of capitalized servicing rights, net of valuation allowances, is included in Other 
Assets and totaled $7,561 and $5,731 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The 
fair values of these rights were $6.05 million and $6.49 million at December 31, 2019 and 
2018, respectively. The fair value of servicing rights at December 31, 2019 was determined 
using discount rates of 10.49% and 12.50% and prepayment speeds of 11.60% and 17.68% 
for the rights to service first mortgages and second mortgages (HELOC’s), respectively.  
 
 

NOTE 6 LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS AND EQUIPMENT 

Leasehold improvements and equipment as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are 
summarized as followings:  
 

2019 2018
Computer Equipment and Software 4,304$             3,867$             
Furniture and Equipment 851                  2,092               
Leasehold Improvements 2,973               3,090               

8,128               9,049               
Less:  Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization 3,837               4,142               
Total 4,291$             4,907$             

December 31,

 
 
Depreciation and amortization expense was $965 and $782 for the years ended  
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
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NOTE 7 MEMBERS’ SHARE ACCOUNTS AND DIVIDENDS 

Members’ share accounts as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are summarized as follows: 
 

2019 2018
Share Drafts 113,663$         104,101$         
Regular Shares 324,809 294,716           
Money Management Accounts 62,457             77,781             
IRA Share Accounts 4,264               4,373               
Share and IRA Certificates 261,771 254,130
Brokered Share Certificates -                       13,282             
Total 766,964$         748,383$         

December 31,

 
 
The aggregate amounts of members’ share and share certificate accounts over $250 were 
$83,499 and $77,903 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 
Scheduled maturities of share, IRA, and brokered certificates at December 31, 2019 are as 
follows: 
 

Year Ending December 31, Amount
2020 197,944$         
2021 41,740             
2022 6,920               
2023 6,223               
2024 8,944               
Total 261,771$         

 
 
Dividend expense on members’ share accounts for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 
2018 is summarized as follows: 
 

2019 2018
Share Drafts 128$                133$                
Regular Shares 4,960 3,488
Money Management Accounts 481 526
IRA Share Accounts 13 14
Share and IRA Certificates 6,108 3,924
Brokered Share Certificates 351                  272                  
Total 12,041$           8,357$             

December 31,
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NOTE 8 LINES OF CREDIT 

The Credit Union has a line of credit agreement with Alloya Corporate Federal Credit Union, 
which provides for maximum borrowings of $75,000 for the years 2019 and 2018. The line of 
credit agreement has no scheduled maturity date and has a variable interest rate, which was 
2.79% at December 31, 2019. Borrowings under the line of credit are secured by all 
unpledged assets at the time of borrowing. 
 
The Credit Union also has a line of credit with a correspondent bank which provides for 
maximum borrowings of $10,000 in 2019 and 2018. This line of credit has no scheduled 
maturity date and has a variable interest rate. Borrowings under the line are secured by 
investments pledged at time of borrowing. 
 
There were no borrowings outstanding on either line of credit as of December 31, 2019 and 
2018. 
 
 

NOTE 9 FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK OF NEW YORK BORROWINGS AND STOCK 

The Credit Union is a member of the FHLB. At December 31, 2019, the Credit Union has the 
capacity to borrow up to a certain percentage of the value of its qualified collateral, as 
defined in the FHLB Statement of Credit Policy. In accordance with an agreement with the 
FHLB, the qualified collateral must be free and clear of liens, pledges, and encumbrances. 
 
There were no outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

 
The Credit Union is required to maintain an investment in capital stock of the FHLB in an 
amount equal to a fixed amount, plus a percentage, of its outstanding mortgage related 
assets. The Credit Union is also required to maintain an investment in capital stock of Alloya 
Corporate Federal Credit Union also based on the borrowing base. 

 
 
NOTE 10 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Credit Union entered into lease agreements with Kraft Heinz Inc. for office space for 
certain service center locations. Rent expense included in office operations related to these 
leases was $14 and $12 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 
Loans to directors, committee members, and executive officers amounted to approximately 
$19,043 and $19,486 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Share accounts of 
directors, committee members, and executive officers totaled approximately $2,426 and 
$1,981 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 
The Credit Union has an investment in a CUSO named Ongoing Operations that provides 
information technology services to other credit unions. The Credit Union entered into a 5- 
year contract with the CUSO, which commenced on August 1, 2017, to provide managed 
outsourced information technology. Total future costs are approximately $3,738.  
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NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Lease Commitments 

The Credit Union is obligated under operating leases on property used for its administrative 
office, service centers, and certain office equipment. The total minimum rental commitments 
for noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2019 are as follows: 
 

Year Ending December 31, Amount
2020 565$                
2021 516                  
2022 525                  
2023 535                  
2024 546                  

Thereafter 2,896               
Total 5,583$             

 
 
Rental expense included in office occupancy costs was $611 and $625 for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 
Rental expense included in office operations was $38 and $37 for the years ended  
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF-STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION RISK 
AND CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK 

The Credit Union is party to financial instruments with off-statement of financial condition risk 
in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its members. These 
financial instruments include commitments to extend credit, home equity and overdraft lines 
of credit, and credit card. They involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess 
of the amount recognized in the statement of financial condition. The Credit Union’s 
exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial 
instrument for commitments to extend credit, home equity and overdraft lines of credit, and 
credit card commitments is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments, 
should the contract be fully drawn upon, the member default, and the value of any existing 
collateral become worthless. The Credit Union uses the same credit policies in making 
commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet instruments. 
Management believes that the Credit Union controls the credit risk of these financial 
instruments through credit approvals, credit limits, monitoring procedures and the receipt of 
collateral as deemed necessary. 
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NOTE 12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF-STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION RISK 
AND CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED) 

Commitments to extend credit and lines of credit are agreements to lend to a member as 
long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. Commitments 
generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses. Since some of the 
commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not 
necessarily represent future cash requirements. The Credit Union evaluates each member’s 
creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed 
necessary by the Credit Union upon extension of credit, is based on Management’s credit 
evaluation of the party. Collateral held is generally residential real estate and automobiles. 
Credit card commitments and personal and overdraft protection lines of credit are generally 
unsecured. 
 
A summary the Credit Union’s credit commitments at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as 
follows: 
 

2019 2018
Commitments to Grant Collateralized Loans

First Mortgages -$                    337$               
Commercial Real Estate 1,356              -                      

Unfunded Commitments Under
  Lines of Credit

Home Equity Lines of Credit 127,744$        105,928$        
Commercial Real Estate -                      21                   
Lines of Credit 8,228              20,089            
Credit Card Commitments 62,617            159,233          
Other Commitments 23,842            20,562            

Total 223,787$        306,170$        
 

 
Vacation Ownership Interests 

The Credit Union finances vacation ownership interests through its relationship with several 
vacation ownership companies. The concentration of the vacation ownership interests with 
each vacation ownership company are as follows at December 31, 2019: 35% with 
Bluegreen, 22% with Tradewinds, 16% with Great Destinations, 12% with Hyatt, 5% with 
Travel Resorts, and the remaining 10% among smaller vacation ownership companies. 
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NOTE 13 PENSION PLANS  
 

Defined Contribution Plan 

The Credit Union sponsors a 401(k) savings plan that covers substantially all employees who 
have completed one month of service. Under the terms of the plan, participants can 
contribute a percentage of their compensation, subject to federal limitations. In 2019 and 
2018 the Credit Union made matching contributions of 100% up to 6% of participant 
compensation after one year of employee service. Participants are immediately vested in 
their contributions and the earnings thereon, and become fully vested in Credit Union 
contributions and the earnings thereon after completing three years of service. The Credit 
Union contributed $618 and $543 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. 
 
Deferred Compensation Plan 

The Credit Union maintains a noncontributory deferred compensation 457(b) plan to cover all 
executive officers. Under the plan, participants may voluntarily defer a portion of their salary. 
The Credit Union pays each participant, or their beneficiary, the amount of salary deferred 
plus earnings, beginning with the individual’s termination of service. A liability is accrued for 
the obligation under this plan. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, deferrals and the associated 
liability under the plan was $269 and $215, respectively. 
 
Deferred Bonus Plan 

The Credit Union maintains a noncash deferred compensation 457(f). Under the plan, a 
portion of an executive officers compensation is deferred each year and vests in three years. 
The amount will be forfeited if the officer leaves the Credit Union prior to the vesting date. A 
liability is accrued for the obligation under this plan. The balance as of December 31, 2019 
was $952 and the balance as of December 31, 2018 was $749. The expense for 2019 and 
2018 was $702 and $359, respectively. 

 
Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Prior to June 15, 2016, the Credit Union sponsored a noncontributory defined benefit 
pension plan covering certain full-time employees. Effective June 15, 2016, the Credit Union 
froze the plan’s benefit accruals and participants. Participants became eligible for the plan 
after completing one-half year of service. Participants became 100% vested after three years 
of service. Benefits were based upon years of service and level of compensation during 
specified years of employment. 
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NOTE 13 PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 

The following table sets forth the plan’s funded status and amounts recognized in the Credit 
Union’s statement of financial condition as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 using a 
measurement date of December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

2019 2018
Projected Benefit Obligation (7,568)$            (5,924)$            
Fair Value of Plan Assets 7,875               6,635               

Funded Status of Plan at Year End 307$                711$                

Accumulated Benefit Obligation (7,568)$            (5,924)$            
 

 
The amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss consisted of the following 
components at December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

2019 2018
Net Unrecognized Loss 3,177$             2,704$             
Prior Service Cost -                       -                       
Total 3,177$             2,704$             

 
 
The estimated net loss that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss 
into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year is $173. 
 
Other information for the Credit Union’s defined benefit pension plan is as follows for the 
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

2019 2018
Employer Contributions -$                     -$                     
Benefits Paid 30                    224                  
Net Pension (Cost) Benefit 69                    188                  

 
 
Weighted-average assumptions used by the Credit Union to determine the pension benefit 
obligations consisted of the following as of December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

2019 2018
Weighted Average Discount Rate 3.25% 4.25%
Rate of Future Compensation Increase N/A N/A
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NOTE 13 PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 

Weighted-average assumptions used by the Credit Union to determine the net benefit cost 
consisted of the following as of December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

2019 2018
Weighted Average Discount Rate 3.25% 4.25%
Expected Long-Term Return on Plan Assets 7.50% 7.50%
Rate of Compensation Increase N/A N/A

 
 

Future Benefit Payments and Contributions 

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are 
expected to be paid: 
 

Year Ending December 31, Amount
2020 535$                
2021 216                  
2022 203                  
2023 235                  
2024 373                  

2025-2029 1,885               
 

 
Asset Allocation and Investment Goals 

The Credit Union’s pension plan weighted average asset allocations at December 31, 2019 
and 2018, by asset category, are as follows: 
 

2019 2018
Collective Investment Fund 100 % 100 %  
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, plan assets are 100% invested in a collective 
investment trust fund managed by CUNA Mutual Group. The appropriate strategic asset 
allocation is governed by the Trustee Plan Portfolio Investment Policy Statement. 
 
The investment objective is to provide a moderate return over a full market cycle with 
commensurate risk. The fund invests primarily in professional managed mutual funds and 
collective investment trusts, which in turn invest in equity and fixed income securities. The 
investment goal is to achieve investment results that minimize contributions as a percentage 
of payroll by providing a total return over a five-year period equal to the actuarially assumed 
target, which was 7.50%. This is to be achieved at the lowest possible portfolio risk level. 
 
The long-term rate of return on assets assumption was determined by applying historical 
average investment returns from published indexes relating to the current allocation of 
assets in the portfolio. When these overall return expectations are applied to the plan’s 
target allocation, the expected rate of return is determined to be 7.50%. 
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NOTE 13 PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 

Asset Allocation and Investment Goals (Continued) 

The plan is prohibited from investing in the following investments: precious metals, venture 
capital, short sales, purchases of letter, stock, private placements, or direct payments, 
leveraged transactions, commodities transactions, puts, calls, straddles, or other option 
strategies or purchases or real estate, with the exception of REITS. 
 
Fair Value of Plan Assets 

Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset in the principal or most 
advantageous market for the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants on 
the measurement date. A fair value hierarchy requires an entity to maximize the use of 
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. 
 
The Credit Union used the following valuation methods and assumptions to estimate the fair 
value of assets held by the plan: 
 
Collective trusts: Fair values of units of participation in collective trusts are based upon the 
net asset values of the funds reported by the fund managers as of the plan’s financial 
statement dates and recent transaction prices. Each collective trust provides for daily 
redemptions by the plan with no advance notice requirements. 
 
The fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018 by asset class is as follows: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Defined Benefit Plan Assets:

Collective Investment Fund -$                     7,875$              -$                     7,875$              
Total Assets -$                     7,875$              -$                     7,875$              

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Defined Benefit Plan Assets:

Collective Investment Fund -$                     6,635$              -$                     6,635$              
Total Assets -$                     6,635$              -$                     6,635$              

2019

2018

 
 
Split-Dollar Life Insurance 

Quorum and members of Quorum’s executive team entered into a Split-Dollar Insurance 
Agreement and Promissory Note. The loans to the executives are full recourse loans. The 
loan balance is $17,508 and $17,120 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  
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NOTE 14 CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

The Credit Union is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the 
National Credit Union Administration (NCUA). Failure to meet minimum capital requirements 
can initiate certain mandatory, and possibly additional discretionary, actions by regulators 
that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Credit Union’s financial 
statements. Under capital adequacy regulations and the regulatory framework for prompt 
corrective action, the Credit Union must meet specific capital regulations that involve 
quantitative measures of the Credit Union’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet 
items as calculated under generally accepted accounting practices. The Credit Union’s 
capital amounts and net worth classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the 
regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors. 
 
Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the 
Credit Union to maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the following table) of net 
worth (as defined) to total assets (as defined). Credit Unions are also required to calculate a 
risk-based net worth requirement (RBNWR) that establishes whether the Credit Union will 
not be considered “complex” under the regulatory framework. The Credit Union’s RBNW 
ratio as December 31, 2019 was 4.76%. The minimum ratio to be considered complex under 
the regulatory framework is 6.00%, therefore the Credit Union is not considered complex at 
December 31, 2019. Management believes, as of December 31, 2019, that the Credit Union 
meets all capital adequacy requirements to which it is subject. 
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the most recent notification from the NCUA categorized 
the Credit Union as “well capitalized” under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective 
action. To be categorized as “well capitalized” the Credit Union must maintain a minimum net 
worth ratio of 7% of assets or the Credit Union’s RBNW ratio, if greater. There are no 
conditions or events since that notification that Management believes have changed the 
institution’s category. 
 
The Credit Union’s actual capital amounts and ratios are also presented in the table. 
 

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Net Worth 64,791$            7.70% 50,475$             6.00% 58,888$           7.00%

Risk-Based Net 
  Worth Requirement 40,044$            4.76% N/A N/A N/A N/A

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Net Worth 59,042$            7.22% 49,052$             6.00% 57,227$           7.00%

Risk-Based Net 
  Worth Requirement 37,770$            4.62% N/A N/A N/A N/A

2018

2019

Actual Action Provision Action Provision

To be Adequately
Capitalized Under To be Well Capitalized
Prompt Corrective Under Prompt Corrective
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NOTE 14 CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Because the RBNWR of 4.76% at December 31, 2019, is less than the regulatory net worth 
ratio of 7.70%, the Credit Union retains its original category. Further, in performing its 
calculation of total assets, the Credit Union used the quarter-end balance option, as 
permitted by regulation. 
 
 

NOTE 15 FAIR VALUE 

Fair value is the exchange price that would be recorded for an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability (exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. There are three 
levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: 

 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that 
the entity has the ability to access as of the measurement date. 
 
Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted 
prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other 
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. 
 
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a reporting entity’s own assumptions 
about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. 

 
The Credit Union used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate fair 
value: 
 
Available-for-Sale Securities: The fair values for available for sale securities are determined 
by obtaining quoted prices on nationally recognized securities exchanges (Level 1 inputs) or 
matrix pricing, which is a mathematical technique widely used in the industry to value debt 
securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securities but rather by 
relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted securities (Level 2 inputs). 
 
Impaired Loans: The fair value of impaired loans with specific allocations of the allowance for 
loan losses is generally based on recent real estate appraisals. These appraisals may utilize 
a single valuation approach or a combination of approaches including comparable sales and 
the income approach. Adjustments are routinely made in the appraisal process by the 
appraisers to adjust for differences between the comparable sales and income data 
available. Such adjustments are typically significant and result in a Level 3 classification of 
the inputs for determining fair value. Non real estate and commercial collateral may be 
valued using an appraisal, adjusted or discounted based on Management’s historical 
knowledge and changes in market conditions from the time of the valuation, resulting in a 
Level 3 fair value classification. Impaired loans are evaluated on a monthly basis for 
additional impairment and adjusted accordingly. 
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NOTE 15 FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) 

Impaired Loans (Continued):  Appraisals for collateral-dependent loans are performed by 
certified residential appraisers whose qualifications and licenses have been reviewed and 
verified by the Credit Union. On an annual basis, the Credit Union compares the actual 
selling price of the collateral that has been sold to the most recent appraised value to 
determine what additional adjustments should be made to the appraised value to arrive at 
the fair value. The most recent analysis performed indicate that a discount of 20% should be 
applied to properties. 
 
Foreclosed and Repossessed Assets: Assets acquired through or instead of loan 
foreclosure are initially recorded at fair value less costs to sell when acquired, establishing a 
new cost basis. These assets are subsequently accounted for at lower of cost or fair value 
less estimated costs to sell. Fair value is commonly based on recent real estate appraisals 
which are updated no less frequently than annually. These appraisals may utilize a single 
valuation approach or a combination of approaches including comparable sales and the 
income approach. Adjustments are routinely made in the appraisal process by the 
independent appraisers to adjust for differences between the comparable sales and income 
data available. Such adjustments are usually significant and typically result in a Level 3 
classification of the inputs for determining fair value. Real estate owned properties are 
evaluated on a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly. For taxi 
medallions acquired through foreclosure the Credit Union utilizes a third-party valuation 
specialist to value the underlying collateral. The valuation methodology employed by the 
specialist includes a weighted average of sales transactions, broker price quotes, discounted 
cash flow, and a capitalization model. 
 
Assets and Liabilities Measured on a Recurring Basis 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:

Mutual Fund - Investment in Deferred

  Compensation 457(b) Plan 269$             -$                    -$                       269$               

Government Sponsored Entities - 

  Home Equity Conversion Mortgages -                    3,633              -                         3,633              

Government Sponsored Entities - 

  Mortgage-Backed Securities Residential -                    7,138              -                         7,138              

Government Sponsored Entities - 

  Collateralized Mortgage Obligations -                    5,218              -                         5,218              

Government Sponsored Entities - 

  Federal Agency Securities -                    22,602            -                         22,602            

Municipal Bonds -                    4,083              -                         4,083              

Total 269$             42,674$          -$                       42,943$          

2019
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NOTE 15 FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) 

Assets and Liabilities Measured on a Recurring Basis (Continued) 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:

Mutual Fund - Investment in Deferred

  Compensation 457(b) Plan 215$             -$                    -$                       215$               

Government Sponsored Entities - 

  Home Equity Conversion Mortgages -                    7,023              -                         7,023              

Government Sponsored Entities - 

  Mortgage-Backed Securities Residential -                    9,916              -                         9,916              

Government Sponsored Entities - 

  Collateralized Mortgage Obligations -                    5,674              -                         5,674              

Government Sponsored Entities - 

  Federal Agency Securities -                    22,179            -                         22,179            

Municipal Bonds -                    7,081              -                         7,081              

Total 215$             51,873$          -$                       52,088$          

2018

 
 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis are summarized below: 
 

Impairment

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Losses

Impaired Loans -$                  -$                    19,933$              25,737$          

Foreclosed and Repossessed Assets -                    -                      2,164                 560                 

Impairment
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Losses

Impaired Loans -$                  -$                    24,781$              30,552$          

Foreclosed and Repossessed Assets -                    -                      2,596                 2,432              

2019

2018
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NOTE 15 FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) 

The following table presents quantitative information about Level 3 fair value measurements 
for financial instruments measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis at December 31, 
2019 and 2018: 
 

Fair Valuation Unobservable Range

Value Technique Input (Average)

Impaired Loans 19,933$        
Sales 

Comparison 
Approach

Adjustment for 
differences 

between 
comparable sales

0% - 25%

Foreclosed and Repossessed Assets 2,164            
Sales 

Comparison 
Approach

Adjustment for 
differences 

between 
comparable sales

0% - 45%

Fair Valuation Unobservable Range

Value Technique Input (Average)

Impaired Loans 24,781$        
Sales 

Comparison 
Approach

Adjustment for 
differences 

between 
comparable sales

0% - 25%

Foreclosed and Repossessed Assets 2,596            
Sales 

Comparison 
Approach

Adjustment for 
differences 

between 
comparable sales

0% - 45%

2018

2019
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NOTE 16 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS  

On January 1, 2019, the Credit Union adopted ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 606)”, and all subsequent amendments. As stated in Note 1, the 
implementation of the new standard did not have a material impact on the measurement, 
timing, or recognition of revenue. Accordingly, no cumulative effect adjustment to opening 
undivided earnings was deemed necessary. Results for reporting periods beginning January 
1, 2019 are presented under Topic 606, while prior period amounts were not adjusted and 
continue to be reported in accordance with our historic accounting under Topic 605. Upon 
adoption, the Credit Union has elected to use the following optional exemptions that are 
permitted under the Topic 606, which have been applied consistently to all contracts within 
all reporting periods presented: 
 
     The Credit Union recognizes the incremental cost of obtaining a contract as an 

expense, when incurred, if the amortization period of the asset that the Credit Union 
would have recognized is one year or less. 

     For performance obligations satisfied over time, if the Credit Union has a right to 
consideration from a member in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the 
member of the Credit Union’s performance completed to date, the Credit Union will 
generally recognize revenue in the amount to which the Credit Union has a right to 
invoice. 

     The Credit Union does not generally disclose information about its remaining 
performance obligations for those performance obligations that have an original expected 
duration of one year or less, or where the Credit Union recognizes revenue in the amount 
to which the Credit Union has a right to invoice. 

 
Topic 606 does not apply to revenue associated with financial instruments, including revenue 
from loans and securities. Topic 606 is applicable to non-interest income such as deposit 
related fees and interchange fees. However, the recognition of these revenue streams did 
not change significantly upon adoption of Topic 606. Significant components of non-interest 
income considered to be within the scope of Topic 606 is discussed below. 
 
Service Charges and Deposit Account Fees 
The Credit Union earns fees from its deposit members for transaction-based account 
maintenance, and overdraft services. Transaction-based fees, which include services such 
as ATM use fees, stop payment charges, and ACH fees, are recognized at the time the 
transaction is executed as that is the point in time the Credit Union fulfills the member’s 
request. Overdraft fees are recognized at the point in time that the overdraft occurs. Service 
charges on deposits are withdrawn from the member’s account balance. 
 
Interchange Fees 
When members use their debit and credit cards to pay merchants for goods or services, the 
Credit Union retains a fee from the funds collected from the related deposit account and 
transfers the remaining funds to the payment network for remittance to the merchant. The 
performance obligation to the merchant is satisfied and the fee is recognized at the point in 
time when the funds are collected and transferred to the payment network. 
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NOTE 16 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 
 

The following presents non-interest income, segregated by revenue streams in-scope and 
out-of-scope of Topic 606, for the year ended December 31, 2019: 
 

2019

In scope of ASC 606

Services charges and deposit account fees 1,860$                  

Interchange fees 1,969                    

Other (117)                     

Non-Interest Income in scope of ASC 606 3,712                    

Non-Interest Income not within the scope of ASC 606 (a) 7,737                    

Total Non-Interest Income 11,449$                

(a) This revenue is not within the scope of ASC 606, and includes fees related

to loan servicing fees, credit card fees, sales of loans, sales of investments 

and various other transactions.  
 
The Credit Union does not typically enter into long-term revenue contracts with members, 
and therefore, does not experience significant contract balances. As of December 31, 2019, 
the Credit Union did not have any significant contract balances. As of December 31, 2019, 
the Credit Union did not capitalize any contract acquisition costs. 
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